COUNTSION ON PLANS

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/29/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

August 22, 2024

Case No. 851543

Case #: 1034148

In the Court of Appeals Division 1 of the State of Washington

Michael Schreck Appellant

v.

City of Seattle; Seattle Restored; Andrea Porter

Appellant Motion Requesting Review by Washington Supreme Court

Michael Schreck 3005 NW Market St. Apt A113 Seattle WA 98107 (206) 657-9942

Petitioner is Pro Se Appellate Michael Schreck

Petitioner seeks review Opinion of Court of Appeals State of Washington Division One. Case # 851543. Opinion filed July 15, 2024. King County Superior Court No. 22-2-15710-1.

Tables

Statement of Case.

From Day One I have asserted that my call to Andrea Porter was my application. Standing is a bridge, not a wall. In his Opinion J. Bowman does not even mention the Chilling Effect. He gives no notice to Lost Opportunity Damages. I am asking serious questions. In this day and age, of what value is 12(b)(6). Here is a legal instrument created for criminal law used in civil law.

Argument

(1) In conflict with US Supreme Court.

In his Opinion, J. Bowman asserts Appellant lacks standing because I did not apply for the program. He gives us Larson v. Snohomish County. "it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts consistent with the complaint that would entitle him to relief." He then goes on to give Alim v. City of Seattle.

Next he deals with Standing. "A financial loss amounts to an injury in fact." City of Longview v. Wallin.

Standing is a Threshold matter, this I agree.

To J. Bowen that threshold is a wall. I have found a ruling of a lesser court that says the threshold is a bridge! Fluid and ever-changing with the case and circumstances. The Court is the United States Supreme Court and the case is United States V. Students Challenging Regulatory Agency Procedures.

"In interpreting 'injury in fact' we made it clear that standing was not confined to those who could show economic harm."

If nesting birds and activists have standing then surely I do!

I cannot even add up all the ways I have suffered because of the Cities insane and illegal behavior. In Business, no one has the authority to say any endeavor is moot. J. Bowman has no crystal ball. What is most ridiculous to me is that the City cannot pay! Biannual Budget \$6.8 Billion Dollars~ they can find the money.

(3) Significant questions of law under Constitution of State of Washington or United States.

Chilling Effect.

My First Amendment rights were violated by the City, OED, and Andrea Porter. The introduction of the BIPOC class would have a clear Chilling Effect on White Applications. It is perhaps too big an idea for the Appellate Court that my application represents free speech. The Chilling Effect alone clearly grants me Standing in this matter.

David L. Hudson, Jr. writing on the Chilling Effect.

Vague laws produce chilling effects because individuals do not know exactly when their expressive conduct or speech crosses the line and violates such rules. The Supreme Court explained this when examining the constitutionality of two provisions of the Communications Decency Act (CDA) that criminalized the online transmission of "patently offensive" and "indecent" communications. However, the law failed to define either term, thus creating a chilling effect.

Writing for the Court in Reno v. ACLU (1997), Justice John Paul Stevens explained:

"The vagueness of the CDA is a matter of special concern for two reasons. First, the CDA is a content based regulation of speech. The vagueness of such a regulation raises special First Amendment concerns because of its obvious chilling effect on free speech.

Vague laws are not the only ones that can cause chilling effects. Overbroad laws and laws that impose a prior restraint on expression also can chill expression. Justice William Brennan referred to this in his dissenting opinion in Walker v. City of Birmingham (1967) when he wrote of "our overriding duty to insulate all individuals from the chilling effect upon exercise of First Amendment freedoms generated by vagueness, overbreadth and unbridled discretion to limit their exercise."

Laws that chill free expression do not provide the appropriate level of breathing space for First Amendment freedoms."

In these words I feel as though they are writing specifically about my case.

Lost Opportunity Damages.

As much as the Court my dislike it, Lost Opportunity Damages are a real thing. My claim of Lost Opportunity Damages are well construed in my Brief. J. Bowman does not even mention Lost Opportunity Damages in his Opinion. I do not specifically mention Lost Opportunity Damages in my Complaint or Oral Testimony. I believe this ties into issue regarding Pro Se litigant being treated as seasoned lawyer.

(4) Issues of substantial public interest.

Pro Se litigant treated as seasoned lawyer.

Purpose and usefulness of 12(b)(6) City's illegal use of BIPOC class.

Nothing is more important than a civilians right to represent himself in a legal matter. I could not afford a lawyer in this matter and so self representation was my only choice.

RULE 2.2 Impartiality and Fairness A judge shall uphold and apply the law, * and shall perform all duties of judicial office fairly and impartially. *

[2] Although each judge comes to the bench with a unique background and personal philosophy, a judge must interpret and apply the law without regard to whether the judge approves or disapproves of the law in question.

[4] It is not a violation of this Rule for a judge to make reasonable accommodations to ensure pro se litigants the opportunity to have their matters fairly heard.

What is a reasonable accommodation? Civil litigant are guarded against "surprise." I certainly was surprised to discover that 12(b)(6) gave fact to even Hypothetical Facts in the Complaint. It should be clear from the nature of my Complaint and court transcript that I have no idea. I ask it again. What lawyer would admit his client did not apply? Judge Rogers owes me nothing. Has he ever helped a Pro Se litigant? If so, how would we know whether the help was a "reasonable accommodation" or a bias in favor of the Plaintiffs case? Where does this idea of impartiality come from? The case is Edwards v. Le Duc. The Judge practically testifies for Edwards. This case is a far cry from what I am asking for. One sentence on a piece of paper handed to my across the counter by the Superior Court Clerk would have been enough! When Judge Rogers sees my complaint it is obvious that I have no inkling of 12(b)(6). That I did not apply is not in my Complaint. It is in my oral testimony. Why does Judge Rogers not stop the proceedings immediately. It is clear I have no concept of Standing.

Nothing is more important to the people of Eastern Washington than this idea of Replacement Theory. Here the City is in effect practicing it. Laws cannot be impractical or vague. What could be more vague than 12(b)(6) and its Hypothetical Facts? What could be more vague.. help for some Pro Se but not others? When is a bias involved? When not? The court does not need to be perfect, but this is ridiculous. Both 12(b)(6) and this idea of a Pro Se litigant being treated as a seasoned lawyer are far past their usefulness. I asked for Substantive Due Process Rulings and was ignored by the Appellate Court. It is questions like these that are tailor made for the Supreme Court of Washington.

Conclusion

49.60.400

J. Bowman finding of Fact in Dismissal Hearing. City is Guilty of a Crime! It is within this atmosphere that we should proceed with this inquiry. United States Supreme Court would grant me Standing. We cannot escape the taint of Judges helping Pro Se litigants when they like the case. It is a ridiculously vague law. So is 12(b)(6). I don't remember where I ask "how many angels can dance on a pin." I wish it were my line. It perfectly describes the paradox of the Hypothetical Fact v. Idle Speculation. I ask for Substantive Due Process rulings because we need clarity. The Court should not be in the business of making laws, yet so many of your Rules have that effect. We can stretch a sentence into a line. By that many inches I lost this case. Any information from the Clerk or Judge Rogers about assertions in the Complaint having the power of Fact versus a 12(b)(6) challenge would have made all the difference.

1	COURT OF APPEALS + COM OUT OF JOIMS. BEST I COULD GO.
3	AUG 22 2024
4	
5	DIVISION I Starte of Washington, County of tring
6	I I
8	Plaintiff(s): No. <u>151543</u> CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
9	
10 11	v. Respondent à Secrété le Costoral Defendant(s): City of Secrété O ED J Andrea Porter
12	OEDJANDAEA PORTON
13	I certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Washington that, on the
14	date stated below, I did the following:
15	August 22, 2024 On, I [strike out what doesn't apply] mailed by regular and certified
16	mail U.S. Mail, postage prepaid /-hand-delivered-a true copy of the
17	motion for review by Supreme Court of Washing
18	[name of paper(s) served] in the above-entitled matter to
19	[Name of Plaintiff or Plaintiff's Attorney] at the following address:
20	(000)
21	Dated: 08-22-2024 VII Chae Shrech Signature
22	Print or Type Name
2324	Place signed Place Signed

Certificate of Service - Page 1 of 1

Scartle City Attorney's Office Suite 2050 Seattle WA 98/04

> John Barry Christie Low Group 2100 West kille Ave N. Smite 206 Seattle WA 98/09

FILED 7/15/2024 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

MICHAEL SCHRECK,

No. 85154-3-I

Appellant,

٧.

UNPUBLISHED OPINION

SEATTLE OFFICE OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT, SEATTLE RESTORED, and ANDREA PORTER,

Respondents.