FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/18/2024 12:10 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

#### CASE NO. 1034148

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## MICHAEL SCHRECK, Petitioner

v.

SEATTLE OFFICE OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT, et al., Respondents

# RESPONDENT CITY OF SEATTLE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ANN DAVISON Seattle City Attorney

REBECCA WIDEN, WSBA #57339 Assistant City Attorney Seattle City Attorney's Office 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2050 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 684-8200

## **

## I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Michael Schreck ("Mr. Schreck") disagrees with the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion in this case, but his petition fails to explain how any of the RAP 13.4 criteria are met that would permit review by this Court. This failure alone warrants denial of the petition.

Mr. Schreck claims that Defendant/Respondent City of Seattle ("the City") unlawfully gives preference to Black, indigenous, or people of color ("BIPOC") applicants in awarding lease opportunities under the City's "Seattle Restored" program, which matches small business owners with leasing opportunities for vacant storefront space downtown. Mr. Schreck, a white man, claims this preference violates RCW 49.60.400 and the U.S. Constitution, and he seeks damages and injunctive relief for same. However, Mr. Schreck fails to allege in his complaint that he applied to participate in the Seattle Restored program or was denied assistance by the program. He acknowledged during briefing and oral argument that, in fact, he never applied for assistance under the program. In affirming the superior court's dismissal of Mr. Schreck's complaint, the Court of Appeals applied well-established Washington law holding that a party does not have standing to sue if their injury is merely conjectural or hypothetical. The Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion creates no conflict with any decision by the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals and does not involve a significant issue of law or public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Accordingly, Respondent City of Seattle (the "City") respectfully requests that the Court deny the petition for review.

#### **II. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT**

The identity of the Respondent and Appellant/Defendant below is the City of Seattle.

///

///

#### **III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- Whether review should be denied where the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion is consistent, rather than in conflict, with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals' decisions holding that standing cannot be based on a hypothetical or conjectural injury, and that pro se litigants are held to the same rules and legal standards as represented parties.
- 2. Whether review should be denied where the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion affirming the dismissal of Mr. Schreck's complaint on well-established principles of standing and procedures applying to pro se litigants does not involve a significant issue of law or substantial public interest.
- /// /// ///

3. Whether review should be denied because the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion can be affirmed on the alternative grounds of mootness, failure to state a claim for injunctive or declaratory relief, failure to state a violation of RCW 49.60.400, and failure to state a First Amendment claim.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 23, 2022, Mr. Schreck filed an ex parte request for a temporary restraining order ("TRO") in King County Superior Court seeking to halt the award of leasing opportunities under the Seattle Restored program. CP 19-20. That request was denied on September 28, 2022 on the ground that requests for TROs were not handled on an ex parte basis through the clerk's office. CP 17. The City was never served with Mr. Schreck's TRO papers.

Meanwhile, on September 26, 2022, Mr. Schreck filed a complaint against Defendants City of Seattle, Seattle Restored, and Andrea Porter in King County Superior Court. Liberally construed, Mr. Schreck's complaint challenged the process by which individual small business applicants were matched with short-term storefront lease opportunities identified by the Seattle Restored program.<sup>1</sup> CP 3-4. Mr. Schreck alleged that the Seattle Restored program gives preference to BIPOC in violation of RCW 49.60.400 when matching applicants with available leases under the program. CP 3. Mr. Schreck also alleged that artist applicants were favored over restauranteur applicants. CP 3. He alleged that these preferences violated RCW 49.60.400 and the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The complaint did not describe the Seattle Restored program, but it did reference the program's public website. CP 3. The public website describes the program as follows: "Seattle Restored revitalizes Seattle neighborhoods with creativity and commerce! Seattle Restored calls our local artists and entrepreneurs to reinvigorate our city by activating empty storefronts. These projects benefit neighborhoods, small businesses, artists and property owners by creating vibrant and engaging streetscapes that encourage the public to visit downtown Seattle, support local businesses and support local artists – particularly Black, Indigenous, and other entrepreneurs and artists of color. This program was initially funded by the Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund (CLFR) established under the American Rescue Plan. https://seattlerestored.org/faq/

Fourteenth Amendment. He sought an award of damages in the amount of \$1-million dollars, or, alternatively, "a halt to racial preference in City contracting and programs." CP 3. He also sought an investigation of the Seattle Restored program by an outside independent organization chosen by the Court. CP 3.

On November 17, 2022, Mr. Schreck served the City with the summons and complaint. On December 7, 2022, the City moved for an order dismissing Mr. Schreck's complaint pursuant to CR 12(b)(1), or in the alternative, an order requiring a more definite statement pursuant to CR 12(e). The City argued, among other things, that Mr. Schreck did not have standing to pursue his claims because he never applied for assistance or was denied assistance under the program. Mr. Schreck did not file a written opposition to the motion. Oral argument was heard on February 24, 2023. Mr. Schreck appeared in court and participated in oral argument. RT 1-27.

During oral argument, Mr. Schreck acknowledged several times that he never applied to the Seattle Restored program. RT

pp. 7-8; p. 16 at ll. 15-25; p. 17 at ll. 1-6; pp. 18-19. Mr. Schreck explained that he had technical difficulties applying, and when he called and spoke with individuals associated with the program, he learned of the preferences given to BIPOC and artist applicants and decided not to pursue it further based on the perceived unfairness of the application process. *Id*.

On February 27, 2023, the superior court entered an order dismissing Mr. Schreck's complaint with prejudice. CP 15-16. The superior court ruled as follows:

Mr. Schreck never applied to the program, according to his complaint and according to his argument. He needed to actually apply in order to have standing in his claim of discrimination. Put another way, for him to state a claim he needed to allege some act that caused him damage, and that has to be more than simply telling the City that the racial preference was wrong.

CP 16.

On March 27, 2023, Mr. Scheck appealed the ruling to the Court of Appeals, Division One. CR 7-12. After receiving briefing by both sides, the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion on July 15, 2024 affirming the ruling of the superior court. Pet., pp. 10-15 (copy of unpublished opinion attached to Petition). The Court of Appeals agreed that dismissal of the complaint under CR 12(b)(6) was proper because the complaint failed to allege that Mr. Schreck applied to the program or was denied assistance by the program. The Court of Appeals applied well-established Washington law holding that an alleged injury that is merely conjectural or hypothetical does not confer standing to sue. See Trepanier v. City of Everett, 64 Wn. App. 380, 383 (1992). Pet., pp. 13-14 (copy of unpublished opinion attached to Petition). The Court of Appeals also rejected Mr. Schreck's argument that the superior court should have helped him better understand the law and civil procedure so that he could avoid dismissal for lack of standing. The Court of Appeals cited similarly well-established Washington decisions holding that pro se litigants are bound by the same rules and procedures as represented parties and must be treated the same as lawyers. Pet., pp. 14-15.

Mr. Scheck then filed the instant petition seeking review by this Court. Pet., pp. 1-15. In his petition, Mr. Schreck repeats the basic arguments he made in the Court of Appeals. Other than expressing his disagreement with the Court of Appeals' opinion, he does not explain how or why there is a proper basis for this Court to accept review under RAP 13.4. Pet., pp. 1-10.

#### V. ARGUMENT

## A. Review Should Be Denied Because The Court Of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion Involves A Straightforward Application Of Well-Established Washington Law On Standing And Pro Se Litigants.

Review should be denied because the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion in this case involved a straightforward application of well-established Washington law on standing. The doctrine of standing prohibits a party from asserting another's legal right. *State v. Link*, 136 Wn. App. 685, 692, 150 P.3d 610, *review denied*, 160 Wn.2d 1025 (2007). The doctrine ensures that courts render a final judgment on an actual dispute between opposing parties that have a genuine stake in resolving the dispute. *Advocs. For Responsible Gov't v. Mason Cty.*, 177 Wn. App. 1003 (2013). Standing is a threshold issue that must be addressed before a case can be determined on its merits. *See Ullery v. Fulleton*, 162 Wn.App. 596, 604, 256 P.3d 406, *review denied*, 173 Wn.2d 1003 (2011) ("[W]hile not a matter of subject matter jurisdiction, the claims of a plaintiff determined to lack standing are not his or hers to assert and cannot be resolved in whole or in part on the merits.")

As the Court of Appeals properly recognized, the issue of standing involves a two-part analysis:

First, we ask 'whether the interest asserted is arguably within the zone of interests protected by the statute or constitutional right at issue.' [*Nelson v. Appleway Chevrolet, Inc.*, 129 Wn. App. 927, 939, 121 P.3d 95 (2005), aff'd, 160 Wn.2d 173, 157 P.3d 847 (2007)]. Second, we determine "whether the party seeking standing has suffered an injury in fact, economic or otherwise." *Id.* A financial loss amounts to an injury in fact. *City of Longview v. Wallin*, 174 Wn. App. 763, 782, 301 P.3d 45 (2013). But a plaintiff lacks standing if their injury is merely conjectural or hypothetical. *Trepanier v. City of Everett*, 64 Wn. App. 380, 383, 824 P.2d 524 (1992).

10

Pet., p. 13 (Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion attached to The Court of Appeals properly found that Mr. petition). Schreck's complaint did not allege facts capable of establishing the second prong of the standing analysis: that he suffered "an injury in fact, economic or otherwise." *Longview*, at 782. This is because the complaint does not allege that Mr. Schreck applied to the Seattle Restored program, that he met the criteria needed to qualify for the program, and that his application was denied because of the alleged preference granted to BIPOC individuals. Absent these allegations, Mr. Schreck has no standing to pursue his claims. "[A] person whose only interest in a legal controversy is one shared with citizens in general has no standing to invoke the power of the courts to resolve the dispute." Karl v. City of Bremerton, 7 Wn. App. 2d 1047 (2019) (citing Casebere v. Clark County Civil Serv. Comm'n, 21 Wn. App. 73, 76, 584 P.2d 416 (1978); Kirk v. Pierce County Fire *Prot. Dist. No. 21*, 95 Wn.2d 769, 772, 630 P.2d 930 (1981)). Because Mr. Schreck did not plead facts indicating that the

alleged deficits in the Seattle Restored program had an adverse impact on his individual, legally cognizable interests, the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the dismissal of his claims with prejudice for lack of standing pursuant to CR 12(b)(1).

At the superior court hearing on the motion to dismiss, and in his opening brief on appeal, Mr. Schreck explained, somewhat contradictorily, that he did not apply to the program due to technical difficulties with his internet service, and because once he learned of the alleged preference given to BIPOC and artist applicants, he no longer wished to apply. See RT pp. 7-8; p. 16 at ll. 15-25; p. 17 at ll. 1-6; pp. 18-19. See also Opening Appellate Brief, p. 18 ("The Chilling Effect makes it clear why I would not apply for an unethical, possibly criminal program"). Mr. Schreck argues that his phone calls to persons associated with Seattle Restored should be considered his application, but those phone calls, as he describes them, do not reflect an application submission. *Id.* At most, they reflect that Mr. Schreck called for information about the program, was unsatisfied with the information he received, and made the decision to file a lawsuit challenging the program rather than apply to it. RT pp. 18-19. None of the additional facts asserted by Mr. Schreck during the hearing on the motion or on appeal would change the standing analysis even if included in the complaint. Mr. Schreck has not alleged, nor can he allege, that he went through the Seattle Restored application process and was denied an available lease opportunity. The Court of Appeals correctly determined that Mr. Schreck has not and cannot establish any injury in fact, and as such, lacks standing to pursue his claim.

In his petition, Mr. Schreck suggests that the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion in this case is inconsistent with the United States Supreme Court decision in *United States v. Students Challenging Regul. Agency Procs. (SCRAP),* 412 U.S. 669, 687, 93 S. Ct. 2405, 2415–16, 37 L. Ed. 2d 254 (1973). Mr. Schreck's argument in this regard is not altogether clear, but in any case, there is no conflict in these opinions. The

*SCRAP* decision, which has been eroded and morphed considerably by later standing decisions, dealt with environmental standing and confirmed the principle that a plaintiff must show an injury-in-fact in order to have standing to sue. *Id.* at 687 (stressing "the importance of demonstrating that the party seeking review be himself among the injured, for it is this requirement that gives a litigant a direct stake in the controversy and prevents the judicial process from becoming no more than a vehicle for the vindication of the value interests of concerned bystanders"). Nothing in that decision instructs or compels a different result in the present case.

Mr. Schreck also takes issue with the Court of Appeals' rejection of his argument that the superior court should have done more to help him better understand the law or procedure so he could avoid dismissal for lack of standing. Here, again, the Court of Appeals applied longstanding legal precedent holding that pro se litigants are bound by the same rules of procedure and substantive law as attorneys, and courts must treat pro se parties just like lawyers. Pet., pp. 14-15 (copy of Court of Appeals unpublished opinion) (citing *Westberg v. All-Purpose Structures Inc.*, 86 Wn. App. 405, 411, 936 P.2d 1175 (1997); *Edwards v. Le Duc*, 157 Wn. App. 455, 464, 238 P.3d 1187 (2010). *See also In re Marriage of Olson*, 69 Wn. App. 621, 626, 850 P.2d 527 (1993) (trial court "under no obligation to grant special favors" to pro se party). Mr. Schreck has not demonstrated error in the Court of Appeals decision and has not shown that it conflicts in any way with other District Court or Supreme Court decisions. The Court should deny review in this case because Mr. Schreck has not shown that it meets the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b) (1-2).

## B. Review Should Be Denied Because The Court Of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion Does Not Involve A Significant Issue Of Law Or Substantial Public Interest.

Mr. Schreck's petition for review does not demonstrate that the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion in this case involves a significant issue of law or substantial public interest, sufficient to justify review under RAP 13.4(b)(3-4). The Court of Appeals' application of the standing doctrine in this case is not novel, unique, or tortured in any way. Rather, it represents a straightforward application of black letter law to a clearly deficient complaint. The decision does not involve a significant issue of law that needs to be resolved or addressed by this Court. The decision does not hold import for the public in general or impact the interests of anyone other than Mr. Schreck. As such, there is no basis for review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3-4), and the Court should deny the petition.

C. The Court Of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion May Be Affirmed On The Alternative Grounds That The Action Is Moot, Fails To State A Claim For Injunctive Or Declaratory Relief, Fails To State A Violation Of RCW 49.60.400, And Fails To State A First Amendment Claim.

"[The Supreme Court] may affirm the trial court on any basis that the record supports, including any theories 'established by the pleadings and supported by the proof,' even if these theories were not originally considered by the trial court." *State v. Arndt*, 194 Wash. 2d 784, 799, 453 P.3d 696, 704 (2019) (quoting *LaMon v. Butler*, 112 Wash.2d 193, 200-01, 770 P.2d 1027 (1989). The decision of the Court of Appeals in the present case may be affirmed on the alternative grounds of mootness, failure to state a claim for injunctive or declaratory relief, failure to state a violation of RCW 49.60.400, and failure to state a First Amendment claim.

An action is moot when the court cannot provide the relief that the plaintiff seeks. *See Karl v. City of Bremerton*, 7 Wn. App. 2d 1047 (2019) (citing *Dioxin/Organochlorine Ctr. v. Pollution Control Hr'gs Bd.*, 131 Wn.2d 345, 350, 932 P.2d 158 (1997)); *see also Lakewood Racquet Club, Inc. v. Jensen*, 156 Wn.App. 215, 224, 232 P.3d 1147, 1151 (2010) (traditional standing and mootness principles apply to declaratory relief actions). In his complaint, Mr. Schreck seeks what appears to be injunctive and declaratory relief focused on eliminating alleged racial preference in the Seattle Restored selection process. The Court could not order this relief below, as the

Seattle Restored application period referenced by Mr. Schreck in the complaint ended in October 2022 and all opportunities were filled. CP 19. There are simply no facts alleged in the complaint that would support a showing of any possible continuing or future injury to Mr. Schreck. As such, to the extent Mr. Schreck's action seeks declaratory and/or injunctive relief, the dismissal of the complaint should be affirmed under the mootness doctrine pursuant to CR 12(b)(1).

Mr. Schreck's complaint also seeks injunctive relief in the form of a halt to racial preference in City contracting and programs, and the appointment of an independent investigator. CP 3. A party seeking injunctive relief must show "'(1) that he has a clear legal or equitable right, (2) that he has a wellgrounded fear of immediate invasion of that right, and (3) that the acts complained of are either resulting in or will result in actual and substantial injury to him." *See Bellevue Square, LLC v. Whole Foods Mkt. Pac. Nw., Inc.*, 6 Wn. App. 2d 709, 715, 432 P.3d 426, 429–30 (2018) (quoting *Tyler Pipe Indus.,*  *Inc. v Dep't of Revenue*, 96 Wn.2d 785, 792, 638 P.2d 1213 (1982)). If the party fails to show any one of these elements, the court must deny the injunction. *Id*.

Mr. Schreck's complaint does not plead these required elements for injunctive relief. He has not alleged, nor could he allege, an immediate invasion of his clear legal or equitable rights, as he has not pled any facts indicating that he submitted an application, that a lease opportunity matching his needs was available, or that he was actually passed over in favor of a lessqualified applicant based on racial preference. Mr. Schreck cannot establish facts showing the invasion of his rights is imminent and will result in actual injury to him. Accordingly, to the extent Mr. Schreck's complaint seeks injunctive relief, it was properly dismissed pursuant to CR 12(b)(6).

To the extent Mr. Schreck's complaint seeks declaratory relief, that claim was appropriately dismissed below. Declaratory relief actions must present justiciable controversies, which require (1) ... an actual, present and

19

existing dispute, or the mature seeds of one, as distinguished from a possible, dormant, hypothetical, speculative, or moot disagreement, (2) between parties having genuine and opposing interests, (3) which involves interests that must be direct and substantial, rather than potential, theoretical, abstract or academic, and (4) a judicial determination of which will be final and conclusive. Lakewood Racquet Club, Inc. v. Jensen, 156 Wn. App. 215, 223, 232 P.3d 1147, 1151 (2010). These requirements have not been met in this case because, as already discussed, there is no allegation that Mr. Schreck submitted an application to be matched with a lease through the Seattle Restored program, or that there was a lease opportunity that met his individual needs. As such, Mr. Schreck has not demonstrated a personal interest in the Seattle Restored program and no justiciable controversy is present. Declaratory judgment actions should not be used for advisory opinions, which is all that could be provided by the Court under these circumstances. See Lewis County v. State, 178 Wn. App. 431, 437, 315 P.3d 550 (2013), *review denied*, 180 Wn.2d 1010, 325 P.3d 914 (2014). To the extent the complaint is construed as seeking declaratory relief, its dismissal was proper pursuant to CR 12(b)(6).

The complaint alleges that the City afforded preference to BIPOC applicants in the process of awarding leases through the Seattle Restored program. Mr. Schreck alleges that both the Seattle Restored website and Program Manager Andrea Porter confirmed that "preference would be given to BIPOC" in the selection process.<sup>2</sup> Mr. Schreck also alleges that the Seattle Restored program gave an unlawful preference to artists over restauranteurs in awarding leases. Mr. Schreck relies on these alleged facts as the basis for his claim for unlawful discrimination under RCW 49.60.400.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> According to the Seattle Restored website, Andrea Porter is the Program Director for Seattle Made, one of the partner non-profit organizations supporting and administering the Seattle Restored program. <u>https://seattlerestored.org/team/</u>

RCW 49.60.400 provides that the State "shall not discriminate against, or grant preferential treatment to, any individual or group on the basis of race, sex, color, ethnicity, or national origin in the operation of public employment, public education, or public contracting." RCW 49.60.400(1). However, Washington case law interpreting RCW 49.60.400 emphasizes that it is not a blanket prohibition on government efforts to foster and promote diversity in public programs:

> [The Washington] Supreme Court has been very explicit: systems that are racially cognizant but that do not specifically advantage one racial group to the detriment of another do not implicate the terms "discriminate" or "grant preference" as they are used in RCW 49.60.400. Rather, "racially neutral programs designed to foster and promote diversity ... would be permitted by the initiative." As our Supreme Court has pointed out, the ballot statement in favor of I–200 itself stated that the initiative "does not end all affirmative action programs. It prohibits only those programs that use race or gender to select a less qualified applicant over a more deserving applicant for a public job, contract or admission to a state college or university."

Dumont v. City of Seattle, 148 Wash. App. 850, 863–64, 200 P.3d

764, 769–70 (2009) (quoting Parents Involved in Cmty. Schs. v.

Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1, 149 Wash.2d 660, 687 (2003)) (internal citations omitted). Accordingly, plaintiffs seeking to plead a violation of RCW 49.60.400 in the awarding of contracts through a government program must do more than allege generally that race was impermissibly relied upon as a factor in that process. *Id.* at 864. Rather, the plaintiff must allege specific facts from which a jury could conclude that he or she (1) was qualified and applied for the government program, (2) was not selected, and (3) a lessqualified candidate of a different race, sex, color, ethnicity, or national origin was selected instead. Id. Mr. Schreck has not alleged any facts capable of establishing these required elements as to his claim of racial discrimination. Nor could he, as he has openly acknowledged that he never submitted an application to the Seattle Restored program. To the extent Mr. Schreck's claim is based on his contention that artists were given preference over restaurants, that claim is not actionable because artists and restaurants are not categories afforded protection under RCW 49.60.400. The Court may and should affirm the dismissal of Mr.

Schreck's complaint on the alternative ground that it does not, and cannot, state a claim for violation of RCW 49.60.400.

Mr. Schreck also argues that the superior court reversibly erred by failing to consider his First Amendment "chilling effect" argument. However, his complaint asserts no First Amendment claim, and he did not raise this claim or any "chilling effect" argument at the hearing on the motion. Thus, that claim was not before the superior court and cannot be asserted for the first time on appeal. *See Wilson v. Steinbach*, 98 Wash. 2d 434, 440, 656 P.2d 1030, 1033 (1982).

#### VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the City respectfully requests that the Court deny the petition for review.